# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 9/26/2024 1:43 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/17/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1035519

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEPHEN ANTHONY BAILEY,

Petitioner

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW FOLLOWING APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY

The Honorable Richard Bartheld

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Laura M. Chuang, WSBA #36707
Northwest Appellate Law
PO Box 8679
Spokane, WA 99203
(509) 688-9242
laura@nwappellatelaw.com

##

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (3), because the resentencing court did not conduct a de novo resentencing.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2008, a jury found Stephen Bailey guilty of one count of assault in the first degree, domestic violence (Count 1), and one count of intimidating a witness, domestic violence (Count 2). (CP 51-58). At the time, he was sentenced to life in prison

without the possibility of parole as a persistent offender. (CP 51-62).

Many years later, in 2014, this lifetime imprisonment sentence was reversed, and Mr. Bailey was sentenced to a determinate sentence pursuant to an amended felony judgment and sentence. (CP 65-72). The trial court at the time imposed a 300-month sentence for Count 1 and a 75-month sentence for Count 2. (CP 67).

In May of 2021, Mr. Bailey moved to correct his felony judgment and sentence, pursuant to our State Supreme Court's opinion issued in *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021). (CP 1-6). For this reason, a third resentencing occurred on October 26, 2022, which is the subject of this appeal.

At this October resentencing hearing, Mr. Bailey was not permitted to appear in-person. (RP 18-67). Despite Mr. Bailey being in the nearby jail, the trial court would not grant his request to appear before the court other than on

videoconferencing. (RP 18). The following exchange occurred:

[THE COURT]: I have Mr. Bailey appearing by Zoom.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Well, he's here in the jail.

[THE COURT]: I understand that.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I would prefer that—I want him in the courtroom if the Court would have him permitted. He's got a very serious matter. And, frankly, we met with—I met with him yesterday and before. And, he's gonna have a list of notes that he wants me to look at as we go forward.

So, certainly, I'm asking that he come forward and join me at the table.

[THE STATE]: Your Honor, this is essentially, a *Blake* sentencing.

[THE COURT]: Mm-hmm.

[THE STATE]: All we're doing is removing one of his prior felonies on his record and then just imposing a sentence on him. So, I don't see a necessity for Mr. Bailey to be brough there in person when he can show up by Zoom.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: That is him on the monitor as we speak.

[THE COURT]: Understand. And, he certainly can participate through the monitor. I'm gonna deny the motion. I have security concerns about Mr. Bailey that I have a courtroom full of people and not enough officers.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Understood.

(RP 18).

Defense counsel then explained to Mr. Bailey that he would not be appearing in person. (RP 19). Mr. Bailey indicated he had notes for his attorney to review, and defense counsel indicated those would be exchanged between them, presumably by court personnel. (RP 19).

The State presented argument, indicating Mr. Bailey should not really be resentenced, but that the hearing was solely for "correcting the *Blake* matter." (RP 18, 21-22). The State requested Mr. Bailey receive the same sentence previously imposed: 300 months for Count 1, and 75 months for Count 2. (RP 21-22). The sentencing range for Count 1 was 240 to 318 months, and 57 to 75 months for Count 2. (CP 27, 42; RP 22).

Rosalinda Botello, the victim in the case, appeared at the hearing. (RP 24-25). While she did speak on the record indicating she was not afraid of Mr. Bailey, she was not given an opportunity to speak freely. (RP 25). Rather, the trial court

asked defense counsel to summarize what she said, merely stating it could not hear her. (RP 25).

Defense counsel asked for a significant reduction in time. (RP 26). Defense counsel stated that representations made by the State at the previous sentencing hearing may have influenced the trial court's sentence in 2014, wherein Mr. Bailey was sentenced to 300 months by a different judge. (RP 25). Defense counsel argued the current sentencing court had the ability to impose its own sentence irrespective of what had occurred at the two previous sentencings. (RP 26).

Additionally, defense counsel noted Mr. Bailey earned certificates in prison for domestic violence classes and was "out of the gangs" which essentially made him a target, as quitting a gang came with consequences. (RP 26, 37).

The State presented evidence from a detective regarding the case. (RP 32-33). The detective opined that Ms. Botello was manipulated in the past, alleging a lot of mental abuse.

(RP 33). The detective's statements did not appear to indicate any of this was currently ongoing. (RP 33).

The prosecution requested the trial court reimpose the same 300-month sentence. (RP 34, 49). The State represented two individuals who were concerned for their safety after Mr. Bailey was placed in prison, but they did not appear at the hearing to give testimony, and it was unclear how long ago those alleged threats had been made. (RP 34). The State indicated Mr. Bailey had recently attempted to obtain drugs in prison. (RP 34).

Mr. Bailey spoke, apologizing for his actions. (RP 35-46). He said he was cruel and selfish and he originally blamed everyone else for his situation. (RP 35-36). He admitted he had been angry his entire life and was severely abused as a child. (RP 37, 43-44). When Mr. Bailey realized he was no longer facing a life sentence, he chose to quit the gang he was part of approximately 7 or 8 years ago, which increased the dangerousness of his situation. (RP 37). Mr. Bailey said he

paid to enroll in domestic violence courses and through those identified the source of his abusive behavior and developed awareness and worked on anger management. (RP 37-38). He also became certified in trade skills. (RP 38). Mr. Bailey said he was no longer the angry, selfish, or violent person he used to be. (RP 38).

The trial court indicated it was imposing its sentence based on what was presented at the hearing and it did not have specific knowledge of the trial itself nor a transcript to read. (RP 53). Factors the trial court considered were the defendant's statements and his infraction history in prison. (RP 54-55). As such, the trial court subtracted 12 months from the sentence on Count 1, imposing 288 months. (CP 42; RP 56). The length of sentence for Count 2 remained the same. (CP 42).

At the end of the sentencing hearing, Mr. Bailey pointed out he wished he had the opportunity to be near his attorney during sentencing to speak with him during the hearing. (RP 63-64). "However, I'm over here and he's over there and this is

all over the computer. So, I kind of feel as if I'm alone in this in some type of way." (RP 64). At that point, the court allowed defense counsel to consult with his client during a recess. (RP 64-65). Afterwards, defense counsel raised an objection to Ms. Botello's inability to speak, stating:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Well, and just [Ms. Botello] was disappointed that she didn't get to speak, but it seemed clear to me that was not gonna bear fruit. So, to the extent that she's objecting or Mr. Bailey is objecting to her absence from further participation, I'm preserving that as well.

(RP 66).

Mr. Bailey appealed. (CP 38-42). The Court of Appeals denied Mr. Bailey's request to remand for a new resentencing hearing. *See* Appendix A.

#### E. ARGUMENT

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Issue 1: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (3), because the resentencing court did not conduct a de novo resentencing.

Review by this Court is merited because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals: whether a de novo resentencing includes the full array of due process rights and not solely evidence the trial court exercised its discretion. *State v. Dunbar*, 27 Wn. App. 2d 238, 249, 532 P.3d 652 (2023); RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Review by this Court is also merited because the Court of Appeals' decision addresses a significant question of law under both the federal and state constitutions: whether the constitutional right to be present at sentencing is required during resentencing and whether the victim's constitutional right to speak has a tangible remedy for its violation. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Although the trial court allowed some of the resentencing hearing to proceed as a full resentencing, it did not allow Mr. Bailey to appear in-person. Moreover, it did not appear to allow Ms. Botello to speak. For these reasons, the *Blake* resentencing hearing was not a de novo resentencing and the case should be remanded. Review should be granted.

Before imposing a sentence, a trial court must conduct a sentencing hearing. RCW 9.94A.500(1). The law requires the trial court to consider multiple factors, including the following:

The court *shall consider*...any victim impact statement and criminal history, and ... arguments from the prosecutor, the defense counsel, the

offender, the victim, the survivor of the victim, or a representative of the victim or survivor, and an investigative law enforcement officer as to the sentence to be imposed.

RCW 9.94A.500(1) (emphasis added).

A Blake resentencing should be a de novo resentencing. State v. Dunbar, 27 Wn. App. 2d 238, 244, 532 P.3d 652 (2023). Specifically, any resentencing must be de novo "unless the reviewing court restricts resentencing to narrow issues." Id. at 244; see also State v. Toney, 149 Wn. App. 787, 792, 205 P.3d 944 (2009).

While a resentencing judge may consider prior rulings by another judge, "the resentencing judge should exercise independent discretion." *Id.* at 244. "Resentencing must proceed as an entirely new proceeding when all issues bearing on the proper sentence must be considered de novo *and the defendant is entitled to the full array of due process rights.*" *Id.* at 245 (emphasis added). "Without a limitation, the resentencing court should consider sentencing de novo and

entertain any relevant evidence that it could have heard at the first sentencing." *Id.* at 246 (citations omitted). Each person's unique individuality should be considered during sentencing. *Id.* at 245-247. Evidence of rehabilitation is something to review and reward during resentencing. *Id.* at 245-249.

In *Dunbar*, the defendant had a high offender score of 26 points and requested a sentence at the low end of the standard range based on evidence of his rehabilitation. Id. at 239-241. The victim also supported early release to afford him a second chance. *Id.* at 241. The trial court seemed hesitant to consider evidence of rehabilitation as a basis for its sentencing decision, and ultimately imposed the same sentence the first judge imposed. Id. at 242-243. While this Court recognized "the resentencing court may have exercised independent discretion rather than considering itself bound by the sentencing court . . . the resentencing court's comments could be taken as adopting the sentencing court's judgment without reviewing the relevant facts and considerations anew." Id. at

243. This Court remanded the case for a de novo resentencing, "during which the superior court should consider new evidence and arguments of the parties, including evidence of . . rehabilitation." *Id.* at 250; *State v. Rowland*, 160 Wn. App. 316, 331-32, 249 P.3d 635 (2011) (where the resentencing court was required to correct the offender score and the standard range, the trial court exercised independent discretion, and the defendant was entitled to raise new challenges to his offender score on remand).

Mr. Bailey was not afforded a de novo resentencing as he was not given the full array of due process rights.

a. Mr. Bailey had a constitutional right to be physically present at his resentencing.

"A defendant has a constitutional right to be present at sentencing, including resentencing." *State v. Ramos*, 117
Wn.2d 46, 48, 246 P.3d 811 (2011); U.S. Const. Amend. VI;
Const. art. I, sec. 22. An exception applies when a hearing involves only a ministerial correction. *Id.* at 48. When a trial

court exercises its discretion as to the length of a sentence, the hearing is not merely ministerial. *Id.* at 48-49. Therefore, anytime a trial court exercises its discretion, a defendant has a right to be heard and be present at resentencing. *Id.* at 49; *also State v. DeWeese*, 117 Wn.2d 369, 381, 816 P.2d 1 (1991) (a defendant's right to be present at trial is not absolute where a defendant voluntarily absents himself from proceedings or is removed for disruptive behavior).

A criminal defendant's fundamental right to be present at all critical stages of a trial is rooted in the federal confrontation clause. *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 880-881, 246 P.3d 796 (2011); U.S. Const. amend. VI. But also, the right to be present is protected by due process "in some situations where the defendant is not actually confronting witnesses or evidence against him." *Id.* at 880-881 (citation omitted).

Whether a criminal defendant's right to be present has been violated is reviewed de novo. *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 880.

Arraignments, bail hearings, and trial settings, may be conducted by video conference. CrR 3.4(e)(1). However, all other proceedings may be conducted by video conference "only upon agreement of the parties, either in writing or on the record." CrR 3.4(e)(2)

In Mr. Bailey's case, his third resentencing pursuant to *Blake* was not ministerial. As *Dunbar* recognized, a resentencing is a full resentencing unless a higher court order expressly instructs otherwise. Here, Mr. Bailey moved the trial court for review of his sentence per *Blake*, and the trial court order appointing counsel for this purpose indicated resentencing was for "*Blake* relief." (CP 1-4). The trial court, finding Mr. Bailey's motion was not frivolous, appointed counsel for the purpose of resentencing. (CP 8-10). Nothing indicates this resentencing hearing was solely ministerial. *Dunbar*, 27 Wn. App.2d 249-250; *also Ramos*, 117 Wn.2d at 48-49. Where resentencing is not expressly limited in scope,

the presumption is that a de novo resentencing applies.

Dunbar, 27 Wn. App.2d 249.

Since Mr. Bailey's resentencing was not for a ministerial correction, Mr. Bailey had the constitutional right to be physically present at the time of resentencing. Ramos, 117 Wn.2d at 48-49. No agreements were made between the parties that Mr. Bailey would appear via videoconference. CrR 3.4(e)(2). Mr. Bailey and his attorney expressly objected to any videoconferencing, and the court had ordered transport so Mr. Bailey could be present. Id.; (CP 17; RP 18). Two times prior, when Mr. Bailey was not transported in a timely manner for resentencing, the hearing was continued, in part, so he could be physically present. (CP 18, 22; RP 13-15). For the trial court to then hold a resentencing hearing without Mr. Bailey's physical presence was a violation of his constitutional right to be present. Ramos, 117 Wn.2d at 48-49. Moreover, the failure of the trial court to allow Mr. Bailey's physical presence indicates the resentencing hearing was not a de facto

resentencing in full, since the constitution and court rules require Mr. Bailey's physical presence unless he agrees otherwise. While *Dunbar* recognizes the trial court was obligated to conduct a full resentencing, and the trial court took many steps to conduct a partial resentencing, its decision to exclude Mr. Bailey's physical presence from the courtroom violated his right to due process and court rules. Mr. Bailey was entitled to the full array of due process rights afforded to a defendant upon sentencing, which he did not receive. *Dunbar*, 27 Wn. App.2d at 245.

b. Ms. Botello had a constitutional right to speak, which was stifled when the trial court requested defense counsel summarize her statements.

A crime victim has a constitutional and statutory right to speak on her own behalf at sentencing. Const. Art. I, sec. 35; RCW 7.69.030(14); RCW 9.94A.500(1). In general, the State cannot "speak for the victims when they have decided not to speak and have not requested assistance in otherwise communicating with the court such as by presenting a victim

impact statement." *State v. Carreno-Maldonado*, 135 Wn. App. 77, 86, 143 P.3d 343 (2006).

Here, the record indicates Ms. Botello's statement as a victim was summarized by defense counsel, as requested by the trial court. (RP 25). Rather than hearing a statement directly from Ms. Botello herself, this subverted the process. Ms. Botello was not given the full opportunity to address the trial court on her own because the trial court requested a summary rather than a direct statement from Ms. Botello. Moreover, defense counsel objected to the manner in which Ms. Botello's statement was handled, indicating she was not given the opportunity to speak. (RP 66). The trial court's failure to allow the victim to make a statement—as required by the State constitution and by statutory provisions—is further evidence this third sentencing hearing was not a de novo resentencing. Dunbar, 27 Wn. App.2d 238. The trial court is required to consider the victim's statement during a resentencing. RCW 9.94A.500(1). The victim also has a

constitutional right to give a statement at sentencing. Const. Art. I, sec. 35; RCW 7.69.030(14). The trial court's stifling of Ms. Botello's statement by asking for a summary impeded the trial court's ability to conduct an independent review. *Dunbar*, 27 Wn. App.2d 247-249.

#### **Summary of Argument**

Although the trial court allowed some of the resentencing hearing to proceed as a full resentencing, it did not allow Mr. Bailey to appear in-person. While the trial court did listen to evidence of rehabilitation, this does not override the fact it did not allow Mr. Bailey his constitutional right to appear in person. (RP 18). The trial court cited security concerns as a reason for denying Mr. Bailey the right to appear in person, but the trial court did not state Mr. Bailey would be disruptive—it merely expressed it needed more security due to the number of people in the room. (RP 18). Because Mr. Bailey has a constitutional right to appear in person for a sentencing hearing,

the trial court should have either rescheduled the hearing or arranged for appropriate security, or both.

The Court of Appeals' opinion faults Mr. Bailey for not citing to any case authority supporting his argument that he is constitutionally guaranteed a right to be *physically* present.

Appendix A, pg. 9. It is true appellant could find no authority directly on this point, besides the law supporting a defendant's constitutional right to be present at sentencing. However, the Court of Appeals' comment begs the question of how any issues of first impression can ever be raised if there is no existing case law. Appendix A, pgs. 9-10. This reasoning is based on an unjustified premise, as is recognized in the dissenting opinion. Appendix A, pg. 15. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (3).

The Court of Appeals also addressed the victim's constitutional right to address the court during resentencing, holding Mr. Bailey has no standing to raise this issue.

Appendix A, pg. 12-13. While Mr. Bailey acknowledges the

current case law states he does not have standing to challenge the victim's right to speak, the concerning effect of this premise is that the victim's constitutional right to speak can always be violated without the likelihood of the victim seeking recourse. It is highly unlikely a victim would sue the trial court over its silencing, and highly unlikely the victim would know it could sue for violation of their constitutional rights. This constitutional right is an empty promise from the courts, with no remedy for its violation. But above all of this, the Court of Appeals' opinion ignores that Mr. Bailey did not receive a de novo resentencing because the trial court did not allow the victim her constitutional right to speak. This is where the issue truly lies. Review should be granted because it is a significant question of law under the constitution. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

The Court of Appeals' majority opinion dismisses the constitutional, statutory, and court rules violations as inconsequential and only pertaining to "whether the court committed legal errors during resentencing." Appendix A, pg.

8-9. The Court further reasoned these raised errors "do not pertain to whether or not the hearing was conducted de novo." Appendix A, pg. 9. However, the trial court did not afford Mr. Bailey the full array of due process rights. The trial court failed to treat this is a complete sentencing when it denied Mr. Bailey's right to be physically present and denied the victim her right to speak. These are not merely legal errors—these errors colored the entire resentencing process and violated constitutional principles.

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