FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/26/2025 12:17 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 103551-9

Court of Appeals No. 39348-8-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEPHEN ANTHONY BAILEY,

Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Bret Roberts, WSBA #40628 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621 OFFICE ID: 91177

PAGE

TABL	E OF AUTHORITIES ii-iii
I.	IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT AND DECISION BELOW 1
II.	STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT 1
III.	RELEVANT FACTS1-5
IV	STANDARD OF REVIEW
V.	ARGUMENT FOR DENIAL OF REVIEW6-20

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

V. ARGUMENT FOR DENIAL OF REVIEW

The trial court's insistence upon Mr. Bailey's presence over video for his resentencing, over his objection, was, at worst, a violation of a court rule. He was not denied the right to be present and meaningfully participate during his resentencing hearing. He was denied the right to be physically present in the courtroom due to the trial court's legitimate security concerns. VRP 18. Should the Court consider his appearance over video an error of constitutional magnitude, all the evidence available shows the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. If his presence over video is, as the State contends, a technical violation of CrR 3.4, Mr. Bailey fails to demonstrate how that error materially affected the outcome of his resentencing hearing.

A defendant has a constitutional right to be present at sentencing, including a resentencing hearing. *State v. Ramos*, 171 Wn.2d 46, 48, 246 P.3d 811 (2011). Presence, under the applicable court rule, means the physical presence of the defendant unless the rule allows the defendant to appear remotely or through counsel. CrR 3.4(a). The presence of the defendant is required at imposition of sentence. CrR 3.4(b).

Notwithstanding the propriety of the procedure used in his resentencing hearing, the trial court imposed a sentence of 288 months, a reduction of twelve (12) months from Mr. Bailey's 300-month sentence. VRP 56. The trial court's 288-month sentence fell within the standard range of 240-318 months which was calculated from his offender score of 9. VRP 52. Mr. Bailey did not assign error below to the trial court's offender score calculation or the corresponding standard range.

Because Mr. Bailey's sentence fell within the standard range, he may only allege, on appeal, that the procedure used by the court was somehow defective. RCW 9.94A.585, *State v. Henderson*, 99 Wn.App. 369, 372-73, 993 P.2d 928 (2000) (citing *State v. Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, 182-83, 713 P.2d 719 (1986)). Contrary to Mr. Bailey's assertions, he received a *de novo* resentencing free of error of sufficient magnitude to justify reversal; and he is mistaken regarding the existence of any meaningful question under Washington law regarding availability of a remedy for a defendant when a crime victim's right to participate in a sentencing hearing is somehow infringed.

> A. The Trial Court Afforded Mr. Bailey a *De Novo* Resentencing Hearing by Independently Considering the Evidence Before it and Imposing its Own Standard Range Sentence Without Undue Reliance Upon Previous Sentences.

Contrary to Mr. Bailey's assertion, his resentencing hearing was conducted *de novo*, in that it was quite clear on the record that the trial court did not place an undue emphasis on the original sentence, and the parties were "free to advance any and all factual and legal arguments regarding [Mr. Bailey's] offender score and sentencing range. *See State v. Edwards*, 23 Wn.App.2d 118, 514 P.3d 692 (2022) (setting forth principles for de novo resentencing following a *Blake* offender score adjustment).

After hearing from the parties, defense counsel's synopsis of the victim's sentiments, and Mr. Bailey himself, the trial court imposed a reduced sentence, *even though his offender score remained nine (9), and the standard sentencing range did not change*. Notwithstanding the reduced sentence imposed by the trial court, Mr. Bailey asserts that the Court of Appeals decision in his case conflicts with the decision in *State v. Dunbar*, 27 Wn.App.2d 238, 532 P.3d 652 (2023). He is mistaken.

In *Dunbar*, the issue on appeal was whether "the resentencing court committed reversible error by failing to

exercise necessary discretion when imposing the new sentence." *Id.* at 243. There was no discussion regarding Dunbar's physical presence during resentencing. *Id.* at 238-250. So, to the extent that he seeks discretionary review by this court, it cannot rest upon a purported RAP 13.4(b)(2) conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision in the instant matter and its decision in *Dunbar* because his petition does not claim that the trial court placed undue reliance/emphasis on the previous sentences when rendering its decision during resentencing.

In *State v. Griffin*, 30 Wn.App.2d 164, 544 P.3d 524 (2024), the Court of Appeals had occasion to consider the impact of a virtual resentencing hearing over the defendant's objection. It is important to acknowledge that the homicide resentencing in *Griffin* occurred in September of 2022 while the Court's COVID-19 procedural order modifying court operations was in effect. *Id.* at 167. Although against the COVID-19 backdrop in *Griffin*, the trial court in Mr. Bailey's matter was similarly "in the best position to 'perceive and structure its own proceedings'

based on its unique knowledge of its 'own courtroom facilities and resources'..." *See Id.* at 172. The trial court here was best able to balance the security risks posed by Mr. Bailey and the resources it had to ensure the safety of court staff, the public, and perhaps most importantly, the domestic violence victim who was present to observe and participate in the resentencing hearing.

The trial court determined that Mr. Bailey's offender score was reduced from 10 to 9 by virtue of the removal of a conviction for possession of methamphetamine from his criminal record. VRP 52. His *Blake*-adjusted offender score still qualified him for the top of the standard sentencing range, which provides for a sentence between 240 and 318 months. VRP 52. The trial court indicated its typical practice when imposing sentence was to start with a midrange sentence and then adjust it based upon aggravating and mitigating factors. VRP 52.

The trial court indicated that, although it personally knew the previous judges who sentenced Mr. Bailey, its ruling was "...based upon the evidence that's been presented to me today."

VRP 53. The trial court correctly exercised its independent discretion during Mr. Bailey's resentencing hearing.

The trial court elected to conduct the resentencing hearing with Mr. Bailey appearing via video from a room adjacent to the jail courtroom. His attorney could request breaks to consult with Mr. Bailey, and corrections staff could facilitate delivery of any written communication. VRP 18-19, 64. Mr. Bailey had easy access to his attorney and was able to effectively participate in the proceedings via video. The State has shown that Mr. Bailey's presence at his hearing via videoconference did not have any prejudicial impact upon the outcome. Regarding his virtual appearance for resentencing, Mr. Bailey has failed to establish that he was denied a *de novo* resentencing hearing.

> B. To the Extent that his Physical Presence in the Courtroom was Governed by Court Rule, Mr. Bailey Fails to Show that his Resentencing Hearing was "Materially Affected" by the Trial Court's Alleged Violation of CrR 3.4(f).

Violations of procedural rules generally do not rise to constitutional magnitude, so appellate courts review such matters

to assess whether the outcome of the proceeding was "materially affected." *Grenning*, 169 Wn.2d at 58.

Under CrR 3.4, remote appearance or appearance through counsel may establish the defendant's "presence," so the actual *physical* presence of the defendant in the courtroom is not the exclusive means by which "presence" can be achieved.

Because the conditions of Mr. Bailey's video appearance from a room in the county jail adjacent to the courtroom complied with CrR 3.4(e)(3), he was "present" for his resentencing, even though he appeared via videoconference in an arguable violation of CrR 3.4(e)(1).

The trial court determined that Mr. Bailey "could participate through the monitor" due to security concerns. VRP 18. Trial courts have broad discretion regarding "provision for the order and security of the courtroom, because the trial court is generally in the best position to perceive and structure its own proceedings." *State v. Bejar*, 18 Wn.App.2d 454, 460-61, 491 P.3d 229 (2021) (citing *State v. Dye*, 178 Wn.2d 541, 547-48,

309 P.3d 1192 (2013). A trial court's ruling regarding security measures is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 461.

Notably, Mr. Bailey did not assign error to the trial court's discretionary determination in briefing to the Court of Appeals, regarding the security risk it believed he presented. Mr. Bailey did not ask for a continuance of his resentencing hearing to allow for sufficient security to permit his physical presence in the courtroom rather than over videoconference. Stated another way, he appears to have accepted the sentencing process over videoconference rather than trying to move his resentencing hearing to a date and location where he could be in the courtroom seated next to counsel.

Mr. Bailey's participation throughout the resentencing hearing revealed he could see everyone and hear what was said. Because Mr. Bailey was housed in the local county jail, immediately adjacent to the courtroom, Mr. Bailey's attorney was able to obtain written notes that Mr. Bailey had prepared for him. VRP 19. Moreover, Mr. Bailey's attorney made it clear that they could confer privately, as needed. VRP 19 ("If you need to talk to me in private, I'll come back and confer with you as the hearing goes."). Mr. Bailey acknowledged that he understood this. VRP 19. Mr. Bailey demonstrated his ability and willingness to exercise the right when he interrupted the proceedings to meet with his attorney privately. VRP 64. ("Okay, so could we have a pause in this for a minute so I can speak with my attorney...")

The record reflects that Mr. Bailey was given ample opportunity to speak to the trial court before it pronounced sentence. VRP 35-46. During that time, Mr. Bailey spoke essentially uninterrupted by anyone but his own attorney and by a single clarifying question from the trial court. Even after it pronounced sentence, the trial court allowed Mr. Bailey to speak until Mr. Bailey's attorney decided to cut him off. VRP 58-59, 62-64.

Mr. Bailey fails to address any meaningful argument to the central question regarding how his resentencing hearing was

"materially affected" by virtue of it being conducted with him present via videoconference, in a jail room adjacent to the courtroom. Mr. Bailey claims a violation of the rules without any argument regarding how he was prejudiced thereby.

There is no basis to believe that Mr. Bailey's resentencing was "materially affected" by his participation via videoconference.

C. Even if Mr. Bailey's Presence at Resentencing via Videoconference was Constitutional Error, it was Harmless Beyond a Reasonable Doubt.

There is legal authority indicating that, "[a] violation of the due process right to be present is subject to harmless error analysis." *See e.g. State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 885, 246 P.3d 796 (2011). In *Irby*, however, the defendant was not present in any way, shape, or form when the court reviewed jury questionnaires, and communicated via email with the prosecution and defense counsel suggesting that certain jurors be excused. *Id.* at 877-78. Our situation is distinguishable in that Mr. Bailey was present, even though his body was not in a seat in the courtroom.

In *Irby*, while discussing the parameters of a defendant's due process right to be present, this Court noted that, "it is fair to say that the due process right to be present is not absolute; rather 'the presence of a defendant is a condition of due process to the extent that a fair and just hearing would be thwarted by his absence." *Id.* at 881 (citing *Snyder v. Massachusetts*, 291 U.S. 97, 105-106, 54 S.Ct. 330, 78 L.Ed.2d 674 (1934) *overruled in part on other grounds sub nom. Malloy v. Hogan*, 378 U.S. 1, 84 S.Ct. 1489, 12 L.Ed.2d 674 (1934)).

Mr. Bailey provides no argument regarding how the trial court's procedure prejudiced him. Nonetheless, the State must persuade the Court, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the outcome would have been the same in the absence of the purported error if the Court views this matter through the lens of constitutional harmless error. This Court warned against casually applying the constitutional harmless error standard to mere rules violations because it may result in reversals even where no prejudice has occurred. *See Grenning*, 169 Wn.2d at 59. With the enhanced quality of videoconference equipment and the pressures caused by pandemics, staffing shortages, security concerns, and other logistical challenges, granting trial courts some flexibility to use videoconference proceedings is warranted; and erroneous use of such proceedings should not result in an automatic reversal.

The record reveals that Mr. Bailey could fully participate in his resentencing hearing. He could receive effective assistance from counsel and had the ability to confer privately with his attorney. At the conclusion of this resentencing hearing, the trial court reduced Mr. Bailey's sentence by one year and modified the no contact order from the duration of his lifetime to a period of twenty-five (25) years. VRP 56-57. It should be remembered that Mr. Bailey's standard sentencing range did not change following application of *Blake*, so the trial court was in no way obligated to reduce Mr. Bailey's sentence or modify the duration of the lifetime no contact order. (VRP 52).

The trial court's decision to reduce Mr. Bailey's sentence and shorten the duration of the no contact order revealed that it considered Mr. Bailey's rehabilitative efforts, even if it had serious concerns that he was continuing his manipulative ways and presented a danger to the community and, specifically, the victim. Nothing about the resentencing hearing, either substantively or procedurally, suggests that Mr. Bailey would have received a different outcome if he had been seated in the courtroom instead of in a secure adjacent jail room appearing via videoconference. Constitutional error, if found by this Court, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

D. Mr. Bailey Cannot Claim Error Regarding the Trial Court's Handling of the Victim's Participation in his Resentencing Hearing.

"With the adoption of article I, section 35, crime victims have constitutional rights during the sentencing phase of a defendant's trial." *State v. Lindhal*, 114 Wn.App. 1, 14, 56 P.3d 589 (2002) (citing *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 262, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995)). "This constitutional amendment expressly provides that it 'shall not constitute a basis for error in favor of a defendant in a criminal proceeding." *Id.* (citing CONST.ART. I, § 35). Mr. Bailey adduced no legal authority suggesting that he is entitled to some remedy due to the trial court's management of the victim's participation in his resentencing hearing. Similarly, Mr. Bailey has offered no legal decision from this Court, or the Courts of Appeal, suggesting that alleged error regarding the victim's participation during sentencing gives rise to a defendant's claim of error on resentencing. He should not receive discretionary review on this issue.

VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review of Mr. Bailey's sentence because any purported error associated with his appearance via videoconference in violation of CrR 3.4 did not materially affect the resentencing proceeding. Moreover, if any purported error regarding his presence is deemed to be of constitutional magnitude by this Court, the State has demonstrated that any such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Mr. Bailey had ample opportunity to present mitigation evidence in response to the significant aggravating evidence which supported his sentence. Mr. Bailey provides no argument that would give this Court reason to expect a different outcome if the trial court had taken the security risk to have him in the courtroom. The defense did not move to continue the matter to allow for prearrangement of security sufficient for Mr. Bailey's physical presence in the courtroom. The matter should be remanded so that the trial court can take the ministerial actions of striking the crime victim's compensation legal financial obligation and correcting the scrivener's errors in Mr. Bailey's criminal history.